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It is common for the owner of a sole proprietorship to use the company’s cash as the 

owner’s personal checking account, taking out money when and as available and using that 

money for personal expenses. And there is nothing wrong with this as long as the company’s 

creditors are being paid. But if the company becomes insolvent, meaning creditors will not be 

paid, the owner can face liability for those owner distributions under both fraudulent transfer and 

fiduciary duty law. 

I. FACTS 

A. Formation of the Debtor and Related Companies 
 
Jason Hoisager formed Arabella Petroleum Company, LLC (“the Debtor”) in February 

2007 to buy and sell oil and gas properties in West Texas.1 The Debtor also served as the original 

operator for the wells on these properties under the governing joint operating agreements.2 Mr. 

Hoisager was the Debtor’s sole owner and manager.3  

Mr. Hoisager later formed other companies.4 He formed Arabella Exploration, LLC 

(“Arabella Exploration”) in December 2008,5 which began operating in 2011 with the acquisition 

of properties in the Permian Basin.6 Arabella Exploration, Inc (“AEX”) was formed on 

December 24, 2013, by the reverse merger of Arabella Exploration and Lone Oak, a Cayman 

Islands corporation.7 According to Mr. Hoisager, he formed AEX to raise capital to develop oil 

and gas properties in the Permian Basin.8 In January 2014, AEX formed Arabella Operating LLC 

(“Arabella Operating”) to take over operating wells previously operated by the Debtor under the 

 
1 J. Hoisager Decl. 3; B. Crisp Decl. 3. 
2 B. Crisp Decl. 3; J. Hoisager Decl. 34-35. 
3 J. Hoisager Decl. 4. 
4 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
5 Arabella Exploration, LLC was a Texas LLC. See J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
6 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
7 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
8 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
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joint operating agreements.9  

Mr. Hoisager owned 100% of Arabella Exploration until the December 2013 merger, 

when it became a wholly owned subsidiary of AEX.10 Mr. Hoisager was the manager of Arabella 

Exploration and the chief executive officer of AEX following the merger.11 Arabella Operating 

was also a wholly owned subsidiary of AEX, and Mr. Hoisager was its sole manager.12 Mr. 

Hoisager owned 30.4% of the shares of AEX at the time of the merger, with the remainder 

owned by public shareholders.13 The parties stipulated that the Debtor became insolvent no 

earlier than December 31, 2013, a few days after AEX was formed.14 

B. Alleged Fraudulent Transfers 
 
The Trustee alleges that from 2011 to 2015, Mr. Hoisager made many fraudulent 

transfers from the Debtor to himself, his wife, and other entities that he owned or controlled.15 

These alleged fraudulent transfers fall into four broad categories: (1) transfers of properties from 

the Debtor to AEX;16 (2) transfers of cash from the Debtor to AEX; (3) transfers of cash from the 

Debtor to Arabella Operating; and (4) transfers of cash from the Debtor to Mr. Hoisager and his 

wife, Molly Hoisager.17 The Trustee also contends that the fraudulent transfers and self-dealing 

collectively are a breach of fiduciary duty.18 Mr. Hoisager disputes that he made fraudulent 

transfers from the Debtor or breached fiduciary duties to the Debtor.19 He contends that he acted 

 
9 J. Hoisager Decl. 8. 
10 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
11 J. Hoisager Decl. 19. 
12 J. Hoisager Decl. 2, 8. 
13 J. Hoisager Decl. 7. 
14 Joint Pre-Trial Order 35, ECF No. 184. 
15 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 1-2, ECF No. 210; B. Crisp Decl. 4. 
16 Hereafter both Arabella Exploration, LLC and post-merger Arabella Exploration, Inc., will be referred to 

as AEX because the post-merger entity would have assumed all liabilities.  
17 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 1-2, ECF No. 210; Def.’s. Post-Trial Br. 3, ECF No. 211. Molly Hoisager’s status as 

Mr. Hoisager’s wife was uncontested. See Joint Pre-Trial Order 27, ECF No. 184. 
18 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 23-24, ECF No. 210. 
19 Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 2, ECF No. 211; J. Hoisager Decl. 67. 
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in good faith at all times and did what he believed to be in the Debtor’s best economic interests 

under the circumstances.20 

1. Transfers of Properties from the Debtor to AEX 

In 2012, the Debtor assembled the “Wolfbone I Prospect,” which consisted of several 

Delaware Basin leases.21 The Debtor entered into the “Wolfbone I PSA” with the purchasers on 

August 5, 2012.22 Outside investors unrelated to the Debtor or Mr. Hoisager purchased 93.35% 

of the working interest in the Wolfbone I Prospect; AEX purchased the remaining 6.65% of the 

working interest.23 The assignments of the Wolfbone I leases were executed on October 15, 

2012, and were recorded in Reeves County, Texas, on varying dates from 2013 to 2015.24 

Next, the Debtor assembled the “Wolfbone II Prospect,” a second package of Delaware 

Basin mineral leases.25 The Debtor and the purchasers of the Wolfbone II Prospect signed the 

Wolfbone II PSA on March 1, 2013.26 Outside investors unrelated to the Debtor or Mr. Hoisager 

purchased 53.54% of the working interests, while AEX purchased the remaining 46.46% of the 

working interest.27 The assignments of the Wolfbone II leases were executed on March 1, 2013, 

and March 15, 2013, and were recorded in Reeves County, Texas, from 2013 to 2015.28 

Mr. Hoisager asserts that the Debtor transferred the working interests in the Wolfbone 

Prospects to AEX for rational business purposes. First, the Debtor could not sell the interests to 

outside investors for a sufficient price, so AEX acted as a buyer of last resort.29 Second, Mr. 

 
20 J. Hoisager Decl. 67; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 2, ECF No. 211. 
21 J. Hoisager Decl. 9. 
22 J. Hoisager Decl. 9. 
23 J. Hoisager Decl. 9. 
24 J. Hoisager Decl. 9; Def.’s Ex. D-16; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 39-41, ECF No. 211; Pl.’s Ex. 77. Mr. 

Hoisager asserts that the great bulk of the Assignments in terms of amounts or value were recorded on July 18, 
2013, and only the Wolfbone I “Scraps” were recorded in 2015. Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 39-40, ECF No. 211. 

25 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
26 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
27 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
28 J. Hoisager Decl. 10-11; Def.’s Ex. 16; Pl.’s Ex. 77. 
29 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
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Hoisager claims that AEX was in a better position than the Debtor to develop the properties, 

create value, and pay lease-operating expenses.30 And finally, according to Mr. Hoisager, AEX 

had “greater access to capital” than did the Debtor,31 and there was a need to drill before the 

leases expired.32 The “access to capital” claim was decisively refuted (1) on cross-examination,33 

(2) by AEX’s 10-K dated December 31, 2014,34 and (3) because the Debtor expended all its 

capital, and more, drilling the Wolfbone wells anyway.35 

The Debtor assigned working interests in the Wolfbone I and II Prospects to AEX on the 

same terms as it made assignments to outside investors, except in one major respect: how the 

purchase price was paid.36 Outside purchasers paid in cash.37 In contrast, AEX paid no cash 

consideration for the properties.38  

According to Brian Crisp, the expert for the Trustee, the Debtor received no 

consideration for the property transfers to AEX.39 AEX originally booked an increase in joint 

interest billings due to the Debtor for the transfers;40 however, Mr. Hoisager recharacterized this 

paper obligation in December 2013 as a $3 million equity distribution from AEX to Mr. 

Hoisager, not the Debtor.41 AEX also provided Mr. Hoisager, not the Debtor, with a promissory 

note for an additional $3,007,170.42 

 

 
30 J. Hoisager Decl. 45. 
31 J. Hoisager Decl. 45. 
32 J. Hoisager Decl. 45. 
33 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 96:18-97:22, ECF No. 204. 
34 Def.’s Ex. D-7, PDF 15. See also B. Crisp Decl. 7. 
35 J. Rae Decl. 10; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex. A, ECF No. 211. 
36 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
37 J. Hoisager Decl. 10. 
38 B. Crisp Decl. 13; J. Hoisager Decl. 21. 
39 B. Crisp Decl. 13. 
40 B. Crisp Decl. 13. 
41 B. Crisp Decl. 13. 
42 B. Crisp Decl. 13; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 100, ECF No. 211. 
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Mr. Hoisager characterizes the consideration received by the Debtor for the properties 

quite differently. Mr. Hoisager says he personally loaned the Debtor the about $6 million used to 

purchase the Wolfbone Prospects, and that he got the money from McCabe Petroleum 

Corporation (“MPC”), under an oral line of credit.43 The Debtor thus acquired the Wolfbone 

leases without paying anything for them, according to Mr. Hoisager, except that the Debtor 

incurred a liability to Mr. Hoisager for the amounts that he lent.44 Mr. Hoisager claims that 

because the Debtor could not find an outside buyer for the Wolfbone leases, it sold them to AEX 

and AEX assumed the Debtor’s obligation to Mr. Hoisager in the amount of $6,014,341.45 The 

parties do not dispute that Mr. Hoisager later converted this obligation by AEX into a 

subordinated promissory note payable to Mr. Hoisager and an equity contribution by Mr. 

Hoisager to AEX.46 

The alleged loan between Mr. Hoisager and MPC was not documented by a note or a 

loan agreement.47 Nor was a debt to Mr. Hoisager ever recorded on the books and records of the 

Debtor.48 Instead, the transactions with MPC were reflected on the Debtor’s books and records as 

“Accounts receivable to McCabe Petroleum Corporation.”49 Post-petition, Mr. Hoisager 

reclassified those accounts receivables to MPC as capital contributions.50 He concedes that the 

accounting for this transaction was not correct.51 Mr. Hoisager contends that this “non-

traditional” accounting resulted from the inexperience of Breann Hall, the Debtor’s controller at 

 
43 J. Hoisager Decl. 12-13.  
44 J. Hoisager Decl. 13 
45 J. Hoisager Decl. 21; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 13, ECF No. 211. 
46 J. Hoisager Decl. 22; Joint Pre-Trial Order 31, ECF No. 184. 
47 J. Hoisager Decl. 14; 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 76:23-25; 97:15-22, ECF No. 204. 
48 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 105:16-22, ECF No. 203. 
49 J. Hoisager Decl. 14; 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 106:1-4, ECF No. 203. 
50 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 106:1-107:6, ECF No. 203. 
51 J. Hoisager Decl. 22. 
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the time, and the limitations of the Debtor’s accounting software.52 

2. Transfers of Cash from the Debtor to AEX 

All parties agree that the Debtor made cash payments to AEX of around $6.2 million 

between September 2011 and the Petition Date, with $4,952,443 paid after December 31, 2013.53 

The parties disagree about how to characterize these payments. 

Mr. Hoisager testified that all the cash payments the Debtor made to AEX were under the 

Debtor’s contractual obligations under the joint operating agreements.54 Under those agreements, 

the Debtor operated leases in which AEX owned a portion of the working interest.55 As the 

Debtor, in its capacity as operator, produced revenues, AEX, in its capacity as working interest 

owner, earned revenues.56 By Mr. Hoisager’s calculations, AEX earned revenues of $5,619,222 

while the Debtor was the operator.57 According to Mr. Hoisager, the Debtor paid AEX 

$5,349,334 of the $5,619,222 that it owed AEX in revenue payments, leaving unpaid revenues of 

$269,888.58 Bill Heyn, acting chief financial officer of AEX and chair of the audit committee, 

also testified that the Debtor made no gratuitous payments to AEX and AEX accounted for every 

dollar it received.59 This statement is simply not credible in light of the testimony from Mr. 

Crisp.  

Mr. Crisp testified that many of the payments to AEX were not revenue payments.60 

According to Mr. Crisp, the Debtor paid AEX $6.2 million, and total revenues paid after 

 
52 J. Hoisager Decl. 14. 
53 B. Crisp Decl. 4; Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 13, ECF No. 210; Pl.’s Ex. 78; Joint Pre-Trial Order 35, ECF No. 

184. 
54 J. Hoisager Decl. 46; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 6, ECF No. 211. 
55 J. Hoisager Decl. 19. 
56 J. Hoisager Decl. 19. 
57 J. Hoisager Decl. 20; Def.’s Ex. D-72. 
58 J. Hoisager Decl. 20; Def.’s Ex. D-72. 
59 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 59:7-60:5, ECF No. 204; 5/19/22 Trial Tr. 5:21-6:17, ECF No. 205. 
60 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 107:7-108:8, ECF No. 203. 
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accounting for netting (offsetting revenue due against joint interest billings owed) was 

$3,270,436.55, so “[t]here’s almost $3 million paid to AEX mostly in round dollar[] [amounts] 

that are not revenue payments.”61 Mr. Crisp noted that revenue payments are typically not in 

round numbers, but “down to the penny.”62   

Mr. Crisp also testified that it is common industry practice for an operator to net the 

revenues earned on wells against the joint interest billings owed by that same working interest 

owner.63 Here, at the time of each payment from the Debtor to AEX, AEX owed substantial 

amounts to the Debtor for unpaid joint interest billings, ranging from $16 million in June 2014 to 

$3.2 million on the Petition Date.64 But based on Mr. Crisp’s analysis, the Debtor netted revenue 

payments against unpaid joint interest billings only three times.65  

Mr. Hoisager countered that while the joint operating agreements gave the Debtor, as 

operator, the right to set off joint interest billings receivables against production payments, the 

decision whether to do so is discretionary.66 Further, according to Mr. Hoisager, there is no 

evidence that the Debtor gave AEX more favorable treatment than the other working interest 

owners, many of whom owed the Debtor hundreds of thousands of dollars.67   

3. Transfers of Cash from the Debtor to Arabella Operating 

AEX formed Arabella Operating on January 22, 2014, to take over operating wells that 

the Debtor had operated under then-existing joint operating agreements.68 According to Mr. 

Hoisager, the transfer of lease operations from the Debtor to Arabella Operating helped the 

 
61 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 45:11-16, ECF No. 204. 
62 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 109:19-110:1, ECF No. 203.  
63 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 110:17-23, ECF No. 203. 
64 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 111:4-9, ECF No. 203; Pl.’s Ex. 12A, 17. 
65 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 112:16-21, ECF No. 203. 
66 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 85:7-18, ECF No. 204. 
67 Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 55, ECF No. 211. 
68 J. Hoisager Decl. 8. 
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Debtor because the amount of money the Debtor earned as the operator of the leases was not 

commensurate with the amount of risk from nonpaying or slow-paying working interest 

owners.69 It’s too bad Mr. Hoisager didn’t think of this before the Debtor took on the task of 

drilling the Wolfbone I and Wolfbone II wells.70 As discussed below, taking on the expense of 

drilling the wells while being unable to collect the corresponding joint interest billings appears to 

be a big reason the Debtor failed.71 In any event, Arabella Operating became the operator of the 

Wolfbone leases under the joint operating agreements on January 1, 2015.72 

The Debtor made cash payments to Arabella Operating totaling $882,483 after December 

31, 2013.73 Mr. Hoisager testified that the cash payments were simply money held in suspense 

accounts that were transferred to Arabella Operating when it became operator.74 So, Mr. 

Hoisager testified, the money held in those suspense accounts belonged to working interest and 

royalty interest owners, not the Debtor, meaning that the Debtor had no right to retain that 

money.75 Mr. Hoisager also testified that Arabella Operating never made a distribution to him 

personally, and that, in fact, he loaned Arabella Operating money that it never repaid.76 This was 

not refuted by Mr. Crisp.77 As discussed above, Mr. Crisp offered credible testimony that the 

transfers to AEX can be distinguished between “round dollar” amounts, which are not revenue 

payments, and amounts listed to the penny, which are.78 From this it could be inferred that the 

round-dollar payments to Arabella Operating are likewise not revenue payments. But despite Mr. 

 
69 J. Hoisager Decl. 8. 
70 See notes 228-234 below and accompanying text. 
71 See notes 228-234 below and accompanying text. 
72 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 87:2-5, ECF No. 204; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 4, ECF No. 211. 
73 B. Crisp Decl. 4; Pl.’s Ex. 79 (summary of payments to Arabella Operating). 
74 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 87:2-9, ECF No. 204. 
75 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 87:10-18, ECF No. 204. 
76 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 87:25-88:12, ECF No. 204. 
77 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 52:2-7, ECF No. 203. 
78 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 109:19-110:1, 113:15-25, ECF No. 203. 
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Hoisager’s overall lack of credibility, the Trustee did bear the burden of proof, Mr. Crisp did not 

address these transfers, and so Mr. Hoisager’s testimony will stand.  

If indeed the transfers to Arabella Operating were transfers of revenue proceeds held in 

suspense accounts for the benefit of royalty and working interest owners from the Debtor as 

operator to Arabella Operating as successor operator—and the only evidence in the record 

establishes this—they are not transfers of property of the estate and the Trustee’s fraudulent 

transfer claim for these transfers fails.   

4. Transfers of Cash from the Debtor to Jason and Molly Hoisager 

The Debtor transferred $6,334,247 to Jason Hoisager and his wife, Molly Hoisager79 

between July 2011 and July 2015; of that amount, $4,180,249 was transferred after December 

31, 2012, and $2,803,834 was transferred after December 31, 2013.80  

The largest distribution to Mr. Hoisager, of $2 million, occurred on June 25, 2014.81 Mr. 

Hoisager claims that the Debtor owed him the money from the sale of the Cox Prospect in 

September 2013.82 Mr. Hoisager contends that the Debtor had a standard format for every deal 

with outside promoters who brought in a profitable oil-and-gas deal. Specifically, the party 

providing the capital would get its money back first, with the profits then split 50/50 between the 

capital side and the deal side, which was usually the Debtor.83 According to Mr. Hoisager, he 

provided the capital to buy the Cox Prospect, so he had a right to recover his capital of $327,964 

to repay the loan he had personally borrowed from MPC to purchase the Cox Prospect. Then, the 

resulting profits were split 50/50 between the Debtor and Mr. Hoisager, with each entitled to 

 
79 Mr. Hoisager testified that he and his wife shared an account. 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 134:22-135:10, ECF No. 

203. 
80 J. Hoisager Decl. 48; B. Crisp Decl. 4; Pl.’s Ex. 76. 
81 B. Crisp Decl. 14. 
82 J. Hoisager Decl. 50-52. 
83 J. Hoisager Decl. 50-51. 
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receive $2,236,017.84 Mr. Hoisager says the Debtor did not pay Mr. Hoisager the profit share in 

late 2013 or early 2014 because the funds were unavailable.85 There was no written agreement 

for this so-called Cox Prospect “profit split.”86 

Mr. Hoisager also describes the $2 million distribution from the Debtor to him as an 

“integrated transaction” designed to benefit AEX and the Debtor, and help them pay their 

creditors.87 According to Mr. Hoisager, AEX needed to raise capital to support its drilling and 

development activities and to pay debts, and AEX owed the Debtor millions in joint interest 

billings under joint operating agreements.88 So Mr. Hoisager says he devised a strategy where the 

same funds would satisfy multiple debts.89  

Under the “integrated transaction,” AEX sold the Roark Prospect for $2,240,000 on June 

24, 2014.90 The next day, AEX used the money from the Roark sale to pay the Debtor 

$2,035,915 in outstanding joint interest billing receivables.91 Immediately thereafter, the Debtor 

paid Mr. Hoisager the $2 million it purportedly owed him as the profit split from the sale of the 

Cox Prospect in September 2013.92 Mr. Hoisager then used the $2-million distribution to buy 

equity in AEX for $10.50 per share.93 He says he bought the stock at about $5 per share above 

market price to help AEX pay its debts and raise additional capital, and to help the Debtor collect 

joint interest billing receivables from AEX and turn over operator status to Arabella Operating.94 

Once AEX received the $2 million from Mr. Hoisager, AEX paid $2,017,836 back to the Debtor 

 
84 J. Hoisager Decl. 51. 
85 J. Hoisager Decl. 52. 
86 J. Hoisager Decl. 51. 
87 J. Hoisager Decl. 57. 
88 J. Hoisager Decl. 52-53. 
89 J. Hoisager Decl. 55. 
90 J. Hoisager Decl. 55; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex. A, ECF No. 211. 
91 J. Hoisager Decl. 55. 
92 J. Hoisager Decl. 55. 
93 J. Hoisager Decl. 55. 
94 J. Hoisager Decl. 53. 



13 
 

over the next several weeks.95 

Mr. Hoisager attributes his purchase of AEX stock— made possible by the Debtor’s 

distribution to him of $2 million—as also being partly responsible for AEX obtaining $16 

million in outside financing from Platinum Partners.96 Of the funds received by AEX from the 

outside financing, the Debtor received $11,244,670, net of fees, to pay its creditors.97 AEX paid 

the money directly to the Debtor’s vendors.98   

The Trustee disputes that there was any “integrated transaction.”99 The Trustee notes that 

Mr. Hoisager originally characterized the transaction—incorrectly—as being started by the 

Debtor, even though it was AEX, not the Debtor, that was the only entity that had funds to start 

the transaction.100 Mr. Crisp also testified that the distribution was made when the Debtor had 

total assets of about $20 million versus total liabilities of about $31 million and had become 

unable to pay its vendors.101 And there were no “profits” earned by the Debtor that could justify 

the payment as a “performance bonus,” as Mr. Hoisager had once contended.102 Finally, Mr. 

Crisp testified that payments to the Debtor’s creditors were made by AEX to remove liens that 

those creditors had filed or could file against the working interests owned by AEX and others in 

the Wolfbone I and II wells, which means the payments were of direct benefit to AEX.103 

 

 
95 J. Hoisager Decl. 56-57. 
96 J. Hoisager Decl. 58-59. 
97 J. Hoisager Decl. 58. 
98 J. Hoisager Decl. 58. 
99 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 7, ECF No. 210. 
100 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 7, ECF No. 210 (In Mr. Hoisager’s reply to Trustee’s Response to Defendant’s MSJ, 

Mr. Hoisager apologized to the Court for providing an incomplete picture of the transaction. Def.’s Reply Br. in 
Support 14, ECF No. 171.). 

101 B. Crisp Decl. 14. 
102 B. Crisp Decl. 14. 
103 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 147:5-148:13, ECF No. 203 (payments were made to lien creditors to assure that AEX 

could get financing from Platinum). Similarly, the proposed Legacy transaction which Mr. Hoisager and Mr. 
McCabe held up as a potential benefit to the Debtor would have been of primary benefit to AEX with only an 
incidental benefit to the Debtor. 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 15:21-19:23, ECF No. 204.    
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Mr. Hoisager categorized much of the remainder of the cash transfers from the Debtor to 

him as fitting within one of four “buckets”: salary, expense reimbursement, performance 

bonuses, and tax distributions.104 For the payments categorized as salary, Mr. Hoisager asserts 

that as the sole executive officer of the Debtor, he was entitled to annual compensation of 

$300,000.105 He believed $300,000 to be reasonable based on his board-approved salary with 

AEX for the same amount.106 But the Trustee notes that the Debtor’s general ledger did not 

reflect payments to Mr. Hoisager as salary.107 Instead, substantially all the transfers to Mr. 

Hoisager were recorded in the Debtor’s general ledger as “Owner Distributions.”108 Similarly, in 

the Statement of Financial Affairs signed by Mr. Hoisager here, the Debtor listed 39 transfers to 

Mr. Hoisager from August 4, 2014, through May 11, 2015, each with the “Purpose of 

Withdrawal” description of “Distribution.”109 

Mr. Crisp refuted the idea of a $300,000 annual salary, noting that the payments were 

made at irregular intervals and in uneven amounts that have no semblance of a regular salary 

structure.110 For instance, Mr. Hoisager received $621,415 in cash transfers from the Debtor in 

2013, excluding a $535,000 “tax distribution” and a $200,000 “performance bonus” asserted by 

Mr. Hoisager.111 And in 2014, Mr. Hoisager received $209,874 in cash transfers from the Debtor, 

excluding a supposed “performance bonus” of $2,250,000.112 Given the Debtor’s continuing 

losses, Mr. Crisp found the amounts received by Mr. Hoisager to be outside any reasonable 

 
104 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
105 J. Hoisager Decl. 62. 
106 J. Hoisager Decl. 62. 
107 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
108 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
109 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
110 B. Crisp Decl. 15; see also 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 134:6-37:15, ECF No. 203 (discussing payments made to 

Mr. Hoisager from April 2013 to May 2015). 
111 B. Crisp Decl. 16. 
112 B. Crisp Decl. 16. 
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industry average.113 

 Mr. Hoisager acknowledged that the Debtor did not pay his salary at regular intervals or 

in consistent amounts.114 According to Mr. Hoisager, this is because the Debtor paid him for his 

work when funds were available.115 Additionally, Mr. Hoisager attributed the fact that most 

payments to him were characterized as “owner distributions,” regardless of their specific 

purpose, to the Debtor’s “very basic accounting system.”116 

As for the other three categories of transfers to Mr. Hoisager—expense reimbursement, 

performance bonuses, and tax distributions—Mr. Crisp noted irregularities for each.117 First, Mr. 

Crisp testified that none of the transfers were labeled as expense reimbursements in the Debtor’s 

general ledger, and no supporting documents were identified or provided by Mr. Hoisager.118 

Second, the Debtor had no written or defined bonus program119 and from 2011 to 2015—the time 

during which the bonuses were paid—the Debtor recorded cumulative net losses of $2,913,662 

from asset sales.120 Third, there was no provision in the Debtor’s company agreement allowing 

distributions to members for tax purposes.121 

The Trustee also seeks to recover from Mr. Hoisager $690,260 in preferential transfers 

made to or for the benefit of Hoisager in the one-year period before the petition was filed.122 Mr. 

Hoisager concedes that he received $767,161 from the Debtor during the one-year period before 

the petition date.123 He also concedes that he was an insider, and that the Debtor was likely 

 
113 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
114 J. Hoisager Decl. 62. 
115 J. Hoisager Decl. 62. 
116 J. Hoisager Decl. 62-63. 
117 B. Crisp Decl. 16-17. 
118 B. Crisp Decl. 16. 
119 B. Crisp Decl. 16. 
120 B. Crisp Decl. 17. 
121 B. Crisp Decl. 16. 
122 Pl.’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 11, ECF No. 185. 
123 J. Hoisager Decl. 66. 
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insolvent during that period.124 But Mr. Hoisager says that after accounting for payments of up to 

$25,000 per month, which the Debtor could have paid him in the ordinary course for his 

$300,000-per-year salary, he received only seven payments—totaling $663,901—which are 

likely preferential transfers.125 But he says he contributed $67,550 in the period after July 10, 

2014, from his own funds back to the Debtor to help the Debtor meet its obligations.126 Nowhere 

in his testimony did Mr. Crisp refute this point. So, Mr. Hoisager concludes, after deducting his 

contributions of $67,550 from his preferential transfers of $663,901, he is liable for preferential 

transfers in the amount of $596,351.127 

Included among the payments made by the Debtor to Mr. Hoisager were payments 

totaling $822,423 that were in some way booked as “Dove Acres, LLC.”128 Testimony revealed 

that Mr. Hoisager used this money to buy a property, and build a building on that property, that 

Mr. Hoisager used personally.129 The Debtor made these payments throughout 2012 and made 

the last such payment on April 3, 2013.130 

C. Breach of Fiduciary Duty to the Debtor 
 
The Trustee also alleges that Mr. Hoisager’s fraudulent transfers and self-dealing breach 

his fiduciary duties to the Debtor.131 According to the Trustee, as the governing person of the 

Debtor, Mr. Hoisager owed it fiduciary duties, even if the company was a single or multi-

member LLC.132 The Trustee also claims that as a corporate officer, Mr. Hoisager owed duties to 

 
124 J. Hoisager Decl. 66. 
125 J. Hoisager Decl. 66; Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 88-89, ECF No. 211. 
126 J. Hoisager Decl. 66. 
127 Def.’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 35-36, ECF No. 179. 
128 B. Crisp Decl. 12. 
129 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 140:1-141:6, ECF No. 203. 
130 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 96:12-99:22, ECF No. 203. 
131 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 23, ECF No. 210. 
132 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 23, ECF No. 210. 
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creditors at least as of December 31, 2013, the date on which the Debtor became insolvent.133 

Mr. Hoisager allegedly breached his fiduciary duties by engaging in a concerted pattern of 

making distributions to himself, his wife, and affiliates or insiders while leaving the Debtor 

insolvent; making excessive distributions that he now contends were salary or undocumented 

bonuses; transferring assets to AEX for no reasonably equivalent value; and leaving the Debtor 

unable to pay its debts.134  

Mr. Hoisager testified that he acted in good faith at all times in his management of the 

Debtor.135 He says he never took for himself properties, contracts, or business opportunities that 

should have been offered to the Debtor.136 He testified that the Debtor received equivalent value 

for the transfers of property to AEX in the form of AEX’s assumption of the Debtor’s obligation 

to pay Mr. Hoisager for borrowing the money to buy the properties.137 And Mr. Hoisager claims 

that though the Debtor worked diligently to satisfy its vendors and other creditors, neither the 

Debtor nor Mr. Hoisager ever agreed to become a fiduciary for any of its creditors at any time 

before the Petition Date.138 Mr. Hoisager notes that the Debtor’s company agreement expressly 

limits managers’ and members’ potential liability for breach of fiduciary duty to actions not 

taken in good faith.139 As a result, he would not be liable for ordinary negligence or bad 

judgment in his management of the Debtor.140 Finally, Mr. Hoisager says that he never 

committed any act of gross negligence, bad faith, or willful misconduct in his management of the 

Debtor.141  

 
133 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 24, ECF No. 210. 
134 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 23, ECF No. 210. 
135 J. Hoisager Decl. 67-68. 
136 J. Hoisager Decl. 67. 
137 J. Hoisager Decl. 68. 
138 J. Hoisager Decl. 69. 
139 J. Hoisager Decl. 5. 
140 J. Hoisager Decl. 6. 
141 J. Hoisager Decl. 6. 
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D. Mr. Hoisager Verses the Debtor’s Books and Records 
 
As noted in the facts above, the Trustee has consistently relied on the Debtor’s books and 

records to support his position that Mr. Hoisager made many fraudulent transfers from the 

Debtor to himself and entities that he controlled. Mr. Crisp testified that substantially all the 

transfers to Mr. Hoisager were recorded in Debtor’s general ledger account as “Owner 

Distributions,” despite Mr. Hoisager’s later categorization of the payments as “salary & wages,” 

“expense reimbursements,” “performance bonuses,” and “tax distributions.”142 Similarly, the 

Trustee refuted Mr. Hoisager’s claim that the Debtor transferred its properties to AEX in 

exchange for assumption of the Debtor’s obligation to Mr. Hoisager by noting that the Debtor 

never booked a loan due to Mr. Hoisager on its books.143 Finally, Mr. Crisp reached his 

conclusion that about $3 million of the payments to AEX were not revenue payments by 

reviewing the Debtor’s general ledger, specifically an account titled “revenue” that recorded 

revenue transfers to AEX.144  

In contrast, Mr. Hoisager’s explanations for the transfers have been changing and often 

inconsistent with the books and records, as evidenced by the facts above. To summarize these 

inconsistencies: 

 In 2019, Mr. Hoisager’s financial expert characterized the “integrated 
transaction”—which involved a $2 million payment to Mr. Hoisager—as being a 
“performance bonus” arising from the sales of the Debtor’s properties from 2011 
to 2014.145 But in his motion for partial summary judgment, Mr. Hoisager stated 
that the Debtor paid him the $2 million as compensation for the sale of the Cox 
Prospect only.146 
 

 Mr. Hoisager also claimed that he personally borrowed the funds necessary to 
purchase the Wolfbone Prospects from McCabe Petroleum Corporation, and that 

 
142 B. Crisp Dec. 15. 
143 B. Crisp Dec. 17. 
144 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 38:21-39:20, ECF No. 204. 
145 B. Crisp Decl. 14. 
146 B. Crisp Decl. 14; Mtn for Summ. J. 28, ECF No. 161.  
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the Debtor transferred those properties to AEX in exchange for AEX’s 
assumption of the Debtor’s obligation to Mr. Hoisager.147 Even so, Mr. Hoisager 
concedes that the Debtor did not document the loan from Mr. Hoisager to the 
Debtor with promissory notes.148 And AEX’s assumption of the obligation to 
repay Mr. Hoisager was documented on the Debtor’s books as an “Owner 
Distribution” to Mr. Hoisager.149 He also acknowledges that the Debtor’s general 
ledger booked the transaction with MPC as “Accounts Receivable McCabe 
Petroleum Corporation,” rather than as a loan from MPC to Mr. Hoisager.150 He 
maintains that the entries were not receivables but were instead loans, and that 
this “non-traditional accounting resulted from the inexperience of Breann Hall, 
the Debtor's Controller at the time, and the limitations of the Debtor’s accounting 
software.”151 Only after the Petition Date did Mr. Hoisager reclassify all of the 
activity in “Accounts Receivable—McCabe” to an equity account titled “Hoisager 
(McCabe) Flow-Thru.”152 
 

 Similarly, Mr. Hoisager categorized the payments the Debtor made to Mr. 
Hoisager as compensation, expense reimbursements, performance bonuses, and 
tax payments.153 Yet Mr. Hoisager conceded that most payments were simply 
recorded in Debtor’s general ledger account as “owner distributions.”154 He 
attributes this inconsistency to the “Debtor’s very basic accounting system.”155 
 

Mr. Hoisager testified that the Debtor’s “books are a mess”;156 he attributed the problems 

with the Debtor’s books and records to Debtor’s bookkeeper, who he says was 

“inexperienced.”157 But the bookkeeper’s successors never went back and made the correct 

corresponding entries on the Debtor’s books.158 Mr. Hoisager also testified that the quality of the 

books and records was his responsibility, as the sole member and manager of the Debtor.159  

Ultimately, Mr. Hoisager’s inconsistent, self-serving, and undocumented explanations of 

how the various transactions and payments should be characterized—including his fanciful 

 
147 J. Hoisager Decl. 12-13, 22. 
148 J. Hoisager Decl. 13. 
149 J. Hoisager Decl. 22. 
150 J. Hoisager Decl. 14. 
151 J. Hoisager Decl. 14. 
152 B. Crisp Dec. 17. 
153 B. Crisp Decl. 15. 
154 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 125:19-128:4, ECF No. 203. 
155 J. Hoisager Decl. 62-63. 
156 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 159:18-19, ECF No. 203. 
157 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 159:15, ECF No. 203. 
158 J. Hoisager Decl. 22. 
159 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 159:20-25, ECF No. 203. 
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“integrated transaction”—are not credible;160 instead, the contemporaneously recorded treatment 

of these transactions in the Debtor’s books and records, for which Mr. Hoisager was responsible, 

should control.  

II. ANALYSIS 

A. Primer on Fraudulent Transfers 
 
The Trustee seeks to avoid transfers made by the Debtor under both section 548, which 

allows the Trustee to avoid transfers that satisfy the elements set forth in that section, and section 

544, which allows the Trustee to avoid transfers that satisfy the elements of a fraudulent transfer 

under state law, here, the Texas Uniform Fraudulent Transfer act, or TUFTA.161 TUFTA was 

modeled on section 548, and in their application to the facts here, the two statutes are for all 

practical purposes identical.162  

The statutes allow the Trustee to avoid two basic types of fraudulent transfers.163 The 

first, which can be called constructively fraudulent transfers, are transfers made by a debtor in 

exchange for less than reasonably equivalent value at a time when the debtor was either (1) 

insolvent (meaning the fair salable value of its assets was less than its liabilities), (2) unable to 

pay its debts as they came due, or (3) had an unreasonably small capital.164  

 

 
160 Indeed, they call into question Mr. Hoisager’s overall credibility. A further blow to Mr. Hoisager’s 

credibility happened when he maintained at trial that the Debtor had substantial properties left after the transfers to 
AEX even though he testified to the opposite during his Rule 2004 exam. 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 131:20-133:18, ECF No. 
203. As Mr. McCabe’s testimony largely parrots that of Mr. Hoisager, Mr. McCabe was not credible, either.  

161 11 U.S.C. §§ 548(a), 544(b); Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 24.005 (“TUFTA”). 
162 See Janvey v. Democratic Senatorial Campaign Comm., Inc., 712 F.3d 185, 194 (5th Cir. 2013) (“UFTA 

is modeled on § 548(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, and, therefore, cases interpreting § 548(a)(1) may be used to 
interpret UFTA or its Texas equivalent.”). 

163 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(A), (B); TUFTA §§ 24.005(a)(1), (a)(2), 24.006(a). 
164 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B); TUFTA §§ 24.005(a)(2), 24.006(a); see also Spring St. Partners-IV, L.P. v. 

Lam, 730 F.3d 427, 437 (5th Cir. 2013) (applying § 24.005(a)(2) and § 24.006(a) as parts of the “constructive fraud 
prong”). 
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The second basic type, which can be called actual intent fraudulent transfers, are transfers 

made with actual intent to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors.165 The intent in question is 

determined by circumstantial evidence, usually with reference to what are called the “badges of 

fraud,” which will be detailed below.166   

Two finer points must also be made. First, under these fraudulent conveyance statutes, 

the Trustee not only can “recover” property fraudulently transferred; he can also “avoid” an 

obligation fraudulently incurred.167 Second, a transfer made for or on account of an antecedent 

debt is by definition for a reasonably equivalent value,168 and so cannot be a constructively 

fraudulent transfer, though it might still be an actual intent fraudulent transfer.169 Thus, if a 

debtor signs an agreement to make a transfer, the obligation to make the transfer can be avoided 

as fraudulently incurred, if the other elements are present. But when that debtor makes the 

transfer under that agreement, that transfer is made for an antecedent debt—the obligation to 

make the transfer—and so cannot be a constructively fraudulent transfer. 

And while transfers made to satisfy antecedent debts cannot be constructively fraudulent 

transfers, they can be preferences under either section 547 or under TUFTA.170 That said, the 

Trustee did not seek to avoid insider preferences under TUFTA, and in the Joint Pre-Trial Order 

 
165 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(A); TUFTA § 24.005(a)(1). 
166 See, e.g., Cipolla v. Roberts (In re Cipolla), 541 Fed. App’x. 473, 477 (5th Cir. 2013) (“Among the 

circumstantial evidence of intent to defraud that a court may look to are the ‘badges of fraud’ in state fraudulent 
conveyance laws, including the Texas Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (‘TUFTA’).”); see also TUFTA § 24.005(b) 
(listing factors for “determining actual intent under Subsection (a)(1)”). 

167 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1) (“The trustee may avoid any transfer . . .or any obligation . . .”); 544(b)(1) (“[T]he 
trustee may avoid any transfer of an interest of the debtor in property or any obligation incurred by the debtor that is 
voidable under applicable law….”); TUFTA § 24.005(a) (“A transfer made or obligation incurred by a debtor is 
fraudulent as to a creditor . . .if the debtor made the transfer or incurred the obligation . . .”). 

168 11 U.S.C. § 548(d)(2)(A) (‘“value’ means property, or satisfaction or securing of a present or antecedent 
debt of the debtor . . .”). 

169 Dean v. Davis, 242 U.S. 438, 444 (1917). See also Brown v. Gen. Elec. Capital Corp. (In re IFS 
Financial Corp.), 417 B.R. 419, 439-40 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2009) (“The [Dean] Court held that a transfer that enables 
the defendant to commit a fraudulent act constitutes a fraudulent transfer.”). But see In re Foxmeyer Corp, 296 B.R. 
327, 337-38 (Bankr. D. Del. 2003) (calling into question the validity of Dean today). 

170 11 U.S.C. §§ 548(d)(2)(A), 547(b); TUFTA § 24.006(b). 
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he limited his section 547 action to payments made to Mr. Hoisager.171 

Finally, once a transfer is avoided, the thing avoided, or the value of that thing, can be 

recovered from the transferee,172 or from the entity for whose benefit the transfer was made.173 

B. The Trustee Cannot Recover the Properties Transferred by the Debtor to AEX as 
Constructive Fraudulent Transfers Because the Transfers were for an Antecedent 
Debt And He Cannot Recover them as Actual Intent Fraudulent Transfers Because 
he Failed to Show the Value of the Property to be Recovered 
 
A “transfer” of property occurs under fraudulent transfer law when “such transfer is so 

perfected that a bona fide purchaser from the debtor against whom applicable law permits such 

transfer to be perfected cannot acquire an interest in the property transferred that is superior to 

the interest in such property of the transferee….”174 Here, that date of perfection occurred, under 

Texas law, when each assignment was properly recorded.175 And so, these transfers were made 

for or on account of an antecedent debt—specifically, the obligation to make the assignments in 

the Wolfbone I and Wolfbone II assignment agreements—and so cannot be constructively 

fraudulent transfers.176 Still, the Trustee might have avoided these transfers as actual intent 

fraudulent transfers.177 

But even if the Trustee could avoid the property transfers as actual intent fraudulent 

transfers, there is a problem of proof. Nowhere does the Trustee list each property transfer he 

 
171 Joint Pre-Trial Order 13, ECF No. 184. 
172 11 U.S.C. § 550(a)(1). 
173 Id. Interestingly, TUFTA does not appear to allow recovery from “the entity for whose benefit the 

transfer was made.” See TUFTA §§ 24.008, 24.009. However, section 550(a) comes into play once a transfer is 
avoided under section 544, and so the “to or for the benefit of” language applies to transfers avoided under TUFTA 
as well.  

174 11 U.S.C. § 548(d)(1). 
175 Sandoz v. Bennett (In re Emerald Oil Co.), 807 F.2d 1234, 1237 (5th Cir. 1987) (“For purposes of § 

548(d)(1), state law on time of perfection controls.”); Osherow v. Wolf (In re Wolf), 2016 WL 4940198, at *22 
(Bankr. W.D. Tex. Sept. 15, 2016) (citing numerous cases), aff'd, 697 F. App'x 317 (5th Cir. 2017). 

176 11 U.S.C. § 548(d)(2)(A). 
177 Dean v. Davis, 242 U.S. 438, 444 (1917). See also Brown v. Gen. Elec. Capital Corp. (In re IFS 

Financial Corp.), 417 B.R. 419, 439-40 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2009) (“The [Dean] Court held that a transfer that enables 
the defendant to commit a fraudulent act constitutes a fraudulent transfer.”). But see In re Foxmeyer Corp, 296 B.R. 
327, 337-38 (Bankr. D. Del. 2003) (calling into question the validity of Dean today). 
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seeks to avoid together with the value he seeks to recover and the basis of that value.  

Mr. Crisp’s declaration at pages 13-14 highlights the lack of specificity.178 Mr. Crisp 

says, based on an AEX 10-K, that AEX sold properties in 2014 for $5.6 million, made a profit of 

more than $3 million, and that the sold properties “include” some of the properties transferred by 

the Debtor to AEX.179 Which properties? Mr. Crisp doesn’t say. And does the Trustee seek to 

recover the value of the properties or just the profit collected by AEX? The Trustee doesn’t say. 

The only specific properties discussed are the Johnson 44 and the Roark, and with these, the 

Trustee mentions only the profit earned by AEX.180 There may be a chart somewhere in the 

Trustee’s exhibits, or information in those exhibits from which such a chart could be constructed, 

but absent a concise presentation of that information in Mr. Crisp’s declaration,181 there is no 

basis on which to establish a fraudulent-transfer damage award based on the property transfers.    

C. The Trustee Cannot Recover Transfers Made by the Debtor to AEX and Arabella 
Operating Because He Failed to Show that the Transfers were “to or for the Benefit 
of” Mr. Hoisager 
 
At trial, the Trustee sought recovery of transfers made by the Debtor to AEX and 

Arabella Operating, not from those entities, but instead from Mr. Hoisager as “the entity for 

whose benefit” those transfers were made.182 The transfer beneficiary183 is a person who, while 

not the initial transferee, nonetheless receives a benefit as a result of the transfer.184 The 

“quintessential” example is when a third-party guarantor has its liability reduced when the debt it 

 
178 B. Crisp Decl. 13-14. 
179 B. Crisp Decl. 13. 
180 B. Crisp Decl. 13-14. 
181 Mr. Crisp does reference Exhibit 31, which lists the properties assigned to AEX, but this exhibit 

provides no values. B. Crisp Decl. 4. He also references Exhibit 71, but this is a summary of the Debtor’s balance 
sheets. Id.  

182 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 19-21, ECF No. 210; 11 U.S.C. § 550(a)(1). 
183 Coined by Judge Wedoff in Baldi v. Lynch (In re McCook Metals, LLC), 319 B.R. 570, 590 (Bankr. 

N.D. Ill. 2005). 
184 Schechter v. 5841 Bldg. Corp (In re Hansen), 341 B.R. 638, 644 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2006) (quoting 

Bonded Fin. Serv, Inc. v. European Am. Bank, 838 F.2d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 1988)). 
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guaranteed is paid through an avoidable transfer from the debtor to the lender.185 “Benefit occurs 

without the beneficiary ever holding the money or property, precisely because someone else 

received it.”186 “The benefit must be ‘direct, ascertainable and quantifiable’ and must correspond 

to, or be commensurate with, the value of the property that was transferred.”187 Even with these 

limitations, courts have found many examples of recoverable benefits beyond the guarantor-

guarantee context.188  

But the Trustee must prove the benefit and must prove that the benefit was quantifiable 

and commensurate with the property transferred.189 And here, as discussed below, the Trustee 

has proven no direct benefit to Mr. Hoisager, and any indirect benefits to Mr. Hoisager as a 

shareholder, director, or officer, resulting from the transfers of property to AEX and cash to 

Arabella Operating, without more, are not enough. And because the entity must actually receive 

a benefit from the transfer, intent to benefit alone is insufficient for recovery under 550(a), 

contrary to the Trustee’s assertions.190  

 
185 Sec. Inv’r Prot. Corp. v. Stratton Oakmont, 234 B.R. 293, 314 (citing Bonded Fin. Serv, Inc. v. 

European Am. Bank, 838 F.2d 890, 895 (7th Cir. 1988) (considering a guarantor or debtor to be the “paradigm 
‘entity for whose benefit such transfer was made’”)). 

186 Id. at 313. 
187 Enron Creditors Recovery Corp v. J.P. Morgan Sec. (In re Enron Creditors Recovery Corp.), 407 B.R. 

17, 33 (Bankr. S.D. N.Y. 2009) (citing Reily v. Kapila (In re Int'l. Mgmt. Assoc.), 399 F.3d 1288, 1293 (11th Cir. 
2005)), rev’d on other grounds, 422 B.R. 423 (S.D. N.Y. 2009); see also Mack v. Newton, 737 F.2d 1343, 1359-60 
(5th Cir. 1984) (reasoning benefit of continued business operations was “an incidental, unquantifiable, and remote 
benefit bearing no necessary correspondence to the value of the property transferred or received” and so was 
unrecoverable under Bankruptcy Act); Faulkner v. Kornman (In re The Heritage Corp), 413 B.R. 438, 495 (Bankr. 
N. D. Tex. 2009) (“Nor is an unquantifiable advantage the sort of ‘benefit’ contemplated by § 550.”). 

188 See, e.g., Senior Transeastern Lenders v. Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors (In re TOUSA, Inc.), 
680 F.3d 1298, 1313-1315 (11th Cir. 2012) (recipients of loan proceeds benefited from transfer of liens securing the 
loan); Gibbons v. Stemcor USA, Inc. (In re B.S. Livingston & Co., Inc.), 186 B.R. 841, 864 (D. N.J. 1995) 
(permitting case to proceed under theory that the promise of lucrative positions at new company in exchange for 
transfers of debtor’s assets was a benefit for purpose of 550(a)); Merrill. v. Dietz (In re Universal Clearing House 
Co.), 62 B.R. 118, 127 (D. Utah 1986) (finding a benefit where debtors’ funds used to retain an attorney to form a 
new company for defendant). 

189 Reily v. Kapila (In re Int’l. Mgmt. Assoc.), 399 F.3d at 1293 (Corporation’s purchase of likely worthless 
stock from one shareholder leaving second shareholder as sole owner did not benefit second shareholder enough to 
impose transfer beneficiary liability because it was not “a quantifiable benefit or one bearing the necessary 
correspondence to property transferred,” citing Mack v. Newton, 737 F 2d at 1359-60). 

190 Pl.’s Reply to Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 8, ECF 212. For cases rejecting the Trustee’s position, see Terry v. 
Meredith (In re Meredith), 527 F.3d 372, 376-77, n.5 (4th Cir. 2008) (finding that the transferor’s “subjective intent 
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First, the Trustee has not shown a “direct, ascertainable and quantifiable” benefit to Mr. 

Hoisager.191 The Trustee did not establish that the salary paid by AEX to Mr. Hoisager was tied 

to, or the result of, or in any other way commensurate with the transfers from the Debtor.192 The 

Trustee also did not prove that the note and equity distributions given to Mr. Hoisager by AEX, 

although possibly direct, were ascertainable or quantifiable.193 On the contrary, Mr. Hoisager 

testified that the note was essentially worthless and that the equity transfer did not increase his 

holdings in the post-merger AEX.194 And this testimony is corroborated by the going-concern 

qualification in AEX’s 20-F.195  

And so, if the Trustee is to recover from Mr. Hoisager, the Trustee must do so based on 

Mr. Hoisager’s status at AEX or Arabella Operating.196 The court in In re Hansen addressed 

recovery under section 550(a)(1) from shareholders, directors, and officers.197 Citing 

“fundamentals” of American corporate law, the Hansen court reasoned that “shareholders, 

officers, and directors are not liable for transfers to their corporation unless they actually 

received distributions of the transferred property (in which case they would be subsequent 

transferees under section 550(a)(2)), or a showing can be made to pierce the corporate veil.”198 

 
to benefit . . . is not determinative” and recognizing that “fraudulent transfer recovery is a form of disgorgement, so 
that no recovery can be had from parties who participated in a fraudulent transfer but received no benefit from it”) 
(quoting Baldi v. Lynch (In re McCook Metals, LLC), 319 B.R. 570,591 (N.D. Ill. 2005)) and Freeland v. Enodis 
Corp., 540 F.3d 721, 740 (7th Cir. 2008) (same). See also Mack v. Newton, 737 F.2d 1343, 1359-60 (5th Cir. 1984) 
(reasoning the same under the Bankruptcy Act). 

191 Reily v. Kapila (In re Int’l. Mgmt. Assoc.), 399 F.3d 1288, 1293 (11th Cir. 2005). 
192 Id. 
193 Id. 
194 J. Hoisager Decl. 25-27. 
195 Def.’s Ex. D-6, 11-12, 123. A form 20-F is used by foreign companies for filing annual reports and other 

disclosures.  
196 At the time of the transfers and equity contribution, Mr. Hoisager owned 100% of the equity interest in 

Arabella Exploration. J. Hoisager Decl. 25; Def.’s Ex. D-21. After the merger with Lone Oak, Mr. Hoisager owned 
30.4% of the stock in the new AEX. J. Hoisager Decl. 26. Arabella Operating was a wholly owned subsidiary of 
AEX. J. Hoisager Decl. 8; Def.’s Ex. D-7, 12. 

197 Schechter v. 5841 Bldg. Corp. (In re Hansen), 341 B.R. 638, 644-46 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2006). 
198 Id. at 645-46 (explicitly rejecting In re McCook’s holding to the contrary). 
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Hansen accords with the Fifth Circuit’s discussion in Mack v. Newton199 (a Bankruptcy Act case) 

and is therefore persuasive.200  

But here, the Trustee did not prove that Mr. Hoisager actually received direct 

distributions of the cash transferred to AEX or Arabella Operating. And the Trustee did not 

preserve veil-piercing theories through the Joint Pre-Trial Order. Even if he had, the Trustee has 

shown no cause to pierce the corporate veil because he has not shown that Mr. Hoisager was the 

alter ego of AEX or Arabella Operating,201 that AEX or Arabella Operating was Mr. Hoisager’s 

“mere instrumentality,”202 that AEX or Arabella Operating was a “sham” or “shell” 

corporation,203 or that Mr. Hoisager otherwise abused the corporate form.204  

The cases cited by the Trustee as authority for recovering from Mr. Hoisager are not 

persuasive. In In re TOUSA, debtors transferred liens to new lenders who then paid off old 

lenders.205 When the liens were avoided, the court found that the paid lenders were the entities 

 
199 Mack v. Newton, 737 F.2d 1343, 1357-60 (5th Cir. 1984). 
200 Mack v. Newton denied recovery because the court found the alleged benefit conferred on partners from 

using proceeds of fraudulent transfer to operate their business to be “an incidental, unquantifiable, and remote 
benefit bearing no necessary correspondence to the value of the property transferred or received.” 737 F.2d at 1359-
60. In accord is Oscherow v. Nelson & Hensley Consol. Fund Mgmt. (In re Pace), 456 B.R. 253, 276-78 (Bankr. 
W.D. Tex. 2011), which cited Hansen favorably but found a basis to pierce the veil.  

201 U.S. v. Jon-T Chemicals, Inc., 768 F.2d 686, 691 (5th Cir. 1985) (explaining the “alter ego” theory as an 
exception to limited liability and noting “our cases are clear that one-hundred percent ownership and identity of 
directors and officers are, even together, an insufficient basis for applying the alter ego theory to pierce the corporate 
veil”).   

202 Lubrizol Corp. v. Cardinal Const. Co., 868 F.2d 767, 769 (5th Cir. 1989) (outlining three elements for 
finding liability under an “instrumentality” theory: “[the] complete domination of the other corporate entity;” “the 
control must be wrongful;” and “the control must proximately cause the injury complained of”).  

203 Ledford v. Keen, 9 F.4th 335, 340-42 (5th Cir. 2021) (denying veil-piercing in part because plaintiff did 
not rebut directors’ evidence that they did not “form [corporation] to avoid liability, use it as a shell to avoid 
liability, or otherwise abuse the corporate form for their personal benefit;” and explaining that, to support a “sham 
theory,” the plaintiff needed evidence of the directors using the corporation to “perpetrate a fraud, evade an existing 
obligation . . . circumvent a statute, protect a crime, or justify wrong”); see also West v. Seiffert (In re Houston 
Drywall, Inc.), 2008 WL 2754526 at *32 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2008) (finding general partner, an LLC, to be a “sham 
corporation” because there was “no separateness” between the LLC and its members, and because allowing the 
member who directed the malfeasance to hide behind the corporate veil “would unjustly benefit” him). 

204 See Schechter v. 5841 Bldg. Corp. (In re Hansen), 341 B.R. 638, 646 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2006) (“Most 
cases in which shareholders or officers have been found responsible under section 550(a)(1) as beneficiaries of 
corporate transfers have involved some veil-piercing aspect.”). 

205 Senior Transeastern Lenders v. Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors (In re TOUSA, Inc.), 680 F.3d 
1298, 1301-1302 (11th Cir. 2012). 
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“for whose benefit the transfer [of the liens] was made.”206 But this is no different from the 

guarantor situation in that the new lenders received a dollar-for-dollar benefit from the transfers. 

Mr. Hoisager did not receive a dollar-for-dollar benefit. The Trustee also cites In re Green Field 

Energy,207 but in Green Field, the court held that neither the defendant’s position as owner nor as 

manager of the entity receiving the transfer was enough to confer transfer beneficiary liability.208 

The Trustee cites In re Buckhead America Corp209 for the proposition that “controlling 

person of an entity can be the party for whose benefit the transfer was made.”210 But the 

Buckhead court was considering a motion to dismiss, and so the court did not need to consider 

“the issue of the precise facts which must be proven in order for plaintiff to prevail.”211 Here, 

however, the dispute went to trial, and so “the precise facts which must be proven” were at issue. 

In his reply brief, the Trustee cites In re Universal Clearing House.212 But Universal 

Clearing House actually agrees with Hansen that absent cause to pierce the veil, a shareholder, 

director, or officer, is not subject to 550(a)(1) liability because of their status alone.213 The 

Trustee also argues that Mr. Hoisager’s salary, and the fact that the transfers kept Mr. Hoisager’s 

“pyramid” afloat (presumably, AEX and Arabella Operating), establishes benefit to Mr. 

Hoisager.214 But Bonded Financial Services215 rejects the former, and Mack, the Fifth Circuit 

 
206 Senior Transeastern Lenders v. Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors (In re TOUSA, Inc.), 680 F.3d 

1298, 1314 (11th Cir. 2012). 
207 Halperin v. Moreno (In re Green Field Energy Services, Inc.), 594 B.R. 239 (Bankr. D. Del. 2018). 
208 Id. at 288 (Bankr. D. Del. 2018) (finding the trustee’s argument insufficient by itself to prove the 

defendant “received an actual benefit from the . . . transfers”). 
209 Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of Buckhead Am. Corp. v. Reliance Capital Group, Inc. (In re 

Buckhead America Corp.), 178 B.R. 956 (D. Del. 1994). 
210 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 21, ECF No. 210. 
211 Buckhead, 178 B.R. at 963, n.11. 
212 Pl.’s Reply to Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 8, ECF No. 212; Merrill. v. Dietz (In re Universal Clearing House 

Co.), 62 B.R. 118 (D. Utah 1986). 
213 Id. at 127-29 (finding that initial-transferee corporations were not “sham[s]” or “mere conduit[s]” such 

that the defendant, who took for value transfers from those corporations, would fall within section 550(a)(1)). 
214 Pl.’s Reply to Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 8-9, ECF No. 212. 
215 Bonded Fin. Serv., Inc. v. European Am. Bank, 838 F.2d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 1988) (“Someone who 

receives the money later on is not an ‘entity for whose benefit such transfer was made’; only a person who receives a 
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Bankruptcy Act case, rejects the latter.216 At most, the Trustee may have recovered the salary and 

distributions from Mr. Hoisager as a subsequent transferee under section 550(a)(2);217 however, 

the Trustee did not argue this.  

And so, the Trustee cannot recover either the property or cash transfers made to AEX or 

the cash transfers made to Arabella Operating from Mr. Hoisager. The cash paid to Mr. Hoisager 

directly is another matter. 

D. The Financial Condition of the Debtor and the Reasons for the Debtor’s Insolvency 
are Relevant to both the Fraudulent Transfer and Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claims 
 
As noted above, the Debtor’s insolvency, undercapitalization, or inability to pay debts 

forms one element of a constructively fraudulent conveyance.218 In addition, the Debtor’s overall 

financial condition can be important in determining whether the Debtor, through its agent, Mr. 

Hoisager, had an intent to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors.219 Indeed, insolvency is one of the 

enumerated “badges of fraud.”220 Finally, the Debtor’s financial condition forms an important 

backdrop against which to consider the Trustee’s breach of fiduciary duty claim. 

The parties have stipulated that the Debtor was insolvent as of December 31, 2013.221 At 

trial, Mr. Hoisager testified that the Debtor became unable to pay its debts as they came due in 

early 2014,222 and this is generally corroborated by the dates of service for the creditors filing 

vendor liens against the Debtor’s properties,223 as well as by Mr. Crisp’s analysis of proofs of 

 
benefit from the initial transfer is within this language.”); see also Seidel v. Byron, 405 B.R. 277, 292 (N.D. Ill. 
2009) (dismissing plaintiff’s section 550(a)(1) claim that, by pledging company assets to secure DIP financing, 
former directors benefitted by continuing to receive compensation from the debtor) (citing to Bonded). 

216 Bonded Fin. Serv., Inc. v. European Am. Bank, 838 F.2d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 1988); Mack v. Newton, 737 
F.2d 1343, 1357-60 (5th Cir. 1984).  

217 Bonded, 838 F.2d at 895 (explaining that “a subsequent transferee cannot be the ‘entity for whose 
benefit’ the initial transfer was made”). 

218 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B); TUFTA §§ 24.005(a)(2), 24.006(a). 
219 Soza v. Hill (In re Soza), 542 F.3d 1060, 1067 (5th Cir. 2008). 
220 TUFTA § 24.005(b)(9).  
221 Joint Pretrial Order 35, ECF No. 184. 
222 5/16/22 Trial Tr. 133:19-23, ECF No. 203. 
223 B. Crisp Decl. 9; Pl.’s Ex. 62.  
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claim filed against the Debtor.224 Jason Rae, the Trustee’s accounting expert, testified to an 

analysis of the Debtor’s capitalization performed by his firm, which concluded that there was a 

working capital shortfall from December 31, 2013 to June 30, 2015.225  

So all the available evidence establishes that the financial condition element for a 

constructively fraudulent transfer is satisfied on the date stipulated for the Debtor’s insolvency, 

or December 31, 2013, and only transfers that took place after that date can be avoided as 

such.226 An earlier cut-off date for actual intent fraudulent transfers might be established, if 

enough badges of fraud (other than insolvency) can be established at the earlier date.  

But how did the Debtor slide into this state of insolvency on December 31, 2013? Mr. 

Crisp included two charts in his declaration,227 but neither revealed anything about what was 

happening to the Debtor during 2013. More helpful was Exhibit D-11, a chart prepared by Mr. 

Crisp, but adopted by Mr. Hoisager in his declaration.228 Exhibit D-11 reveals a shocking fact: 

The Debtor’s income was over $800,000 for each of 2011 and 2012, but fell to a negative $4.6 

million in 2013, and the Debtor continued to lose money thereafter.229 

Mr. Hoisager’s timeline reveals that the Debtor’s drilling operations on the Wolfbone I 

and II wells began in late 2012 and ramped up in 2013.230 That the Debtor had trouble collecting 

the joint interest costs of this drilling activity is evident from the bankruptcy schedules.231 And 

Mr. Rae testified that the Debtor over spent the approved budget on the first three wells drilled 

by almost $14 million, $8 million over the amounts committed by the working interest owners.232  

 
224 B. Crisp Decl. 9. 
225 J. Rae Decl. 15; Pl.’s Ex. 70. 
226 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B); TUFTA §§ 24.005(a)(2), 24.006(a). 
227 B. Crisp Decl. 6, 8. 
228 J. Hoisager Decl. 4. 
229 Def.’s Ex. D-11. 
230 Def.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex. A, 1-7, ECF No. 211. 
231 B. Crisp Decl. 5. 
232 J. Rae Decl. 10. 
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The following chart, created from the Debtor’s balance sheets, makes it painfully clear 

that the combination of the Debtor’s Wolfbone I and II drilling activities—with the high costs233 

and inability to collect the corresponding joint interest billings—and absurdly large owner 

distributions, were the biggest contributors to the Debtor’s insolvency at the end of 2013.234  

Year Equity Accounts 
Receivable 

Unbilled Joint 
Interest Billings 

Owner 
Distributions 

2012 $654,468 $877,173 $3,590,262 –$2,307,685 
2013 –$12,930,875 $5,329,376 $11,550,407 –$9,589,296 

 
E. The Trustee Can Recover the Cash that the Debtor Transferred to Mr. Hoisager As 

Fraudulent Transfers 
 
1. The Trustee Can Recover the Cash that the Debtor Transferred to Mr. Hoisager 

after December 13, 2013 as Constructively Fraudulent Transfers  

Exhibit 1 to the Trustee’s Post-Trial Brief shows all payments made by the Debtor to Mr. 

Hoisager between December 31, 2013, and the Petition Date.235 These payments total 

$2,803,834.236 Mr. Crisp testified that each payment was reflected in the Debtor’s books and 

records as an “owner distribution,” and opined that the Debtor did not receive reasonably 

equivalent value in exchange.237 While, the “Dove Acres” distributions238 about which the 

Trustee complains were made while the Debtor was financial healthy, and so were perfectly 

benign,239 owner distributions made while a company is insolvent are quintessential 

constructively fraudulent transfers.240 And as noted above, the Debtor’s books and records which 

 
233 J. Rae Decl. 10. 
234 Pl.’s Ex. 8, 1-4. 
235 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex. 1, ECF No. 210. 
236 Pl.’s Ex. 60, 76; B. Crisp Decl. 12. 
237 B. Crisp Decl. 14-20. As noted earlier, Mr. Hoisager’s attempts to recharacterize these payments were 

not credible. 
238 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 19, ECF No. 210. 
239 The Debtor was financially healthy, so the distributions are unassailable if ratified by a majority of 

shareholders. See, e.g., Gearhart Industries Inc. v. Smith Intern., Inc., 741 F.2d 707, 720 (5th Cir. 1984) (“A 
challenged transaction found to be unfair to the corporate enterprise may nonetheless be upheld if ratified by a 
majority of disinterested directors or the majority of the stockholders.”).  

240 See Mancuso v. Champion (In re Dondi Financial Corp.), 119 B.R. 106, 111-13 (Bankr. N. D. Tex. 
1990), and cases cited therein. 
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listed these payments as “owner distributions” to Mr. Hoisager must control in the face of Mr. 

Hoisager’s inconsistent and self-serving testimony. Thus, the $2,803,834 in distributions made to 

Mr. Hoisager after December 31, 2013, are recoverable and the Trustee is entitled to a judgment 

of at least this amount. 

But was there a date earlier than December 31, 2013, on which the Debtor formed an 

actual intent to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors, so that cash payments made to Mr. Hoisager 

before December 31, 2013, could be avoided? 

2. The Trustee Can Recover the Cash that the Debtor Transferred to Mr. Hoisager 
after July 1, 2013 as Actual Intent Fraudulent Transfers 

As is typical with actual intent fraudulent transfers, there is no direct evidence that Mr. 

Hoisager intended241 to delay, defraud, or hinder creditors with the payments of cash to Mr. 

Hoisager. Mr. Hoisager testified, of course, that the Debtor made no transfers or payments with 

actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud any creditor.242 

Because a debtor will seldom admit that he intended to defraud creditors, intent may also 

be inferred and established by circumstantial evidence, including analysis of the “badges of 

fraud.”243 The badges of fraud under the Texas Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act include  

(1) Whether the transfer was to an insider;  
(2) Whether the debtor retained possession or control of the property after the transfer;  
(3) Whether the transfer was concealed;  
(4) Whether the debtor had been sued or threatened with suit before the transfer;  
(5) Whether the transfer was substantially all of the debtor’s assets;  
(6) Whether the debtor absconded after the sale;  
(7) Whether the debtor removed or concealed assets;  
(8) Whether the value of the consideration received by the debtor was reasonably 
equivalent to the value of the asset or obligation incurred;  
(9) Whether the debtor was insolvent or became insolvent shortly after the sale;  
(10) Whether the transfer occurred shortly before or shortly after the debtor incurred a 

 
241 It is the Debtor’s intent that matters. ASARCO LLC v. Americas Mining Corp., 396 B.R. 278, 369 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008). But the intent of a transferee in control of the debtor will be imputed to the debtor. Id. at 269-70. 
242 J. Hoisager Decl. 5-6. 
243 Soza v. Hill (In re Soza), 542 F.3d 1060, 1066-67 (5th Cir. 2008). 
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“substantial debt;” and  
(11) Whether the debtor transferred essential assets to the business to a lienor who 
transferred the assets to an insider or seller.244  
 
The Fifth Circuit has articulated a similar list of “badges” applicable to transfers under 

the Bankruptcy Code: 

(1) the lack or inadequacy of consideration;  
(2) the family, friendship or close associate relationship between the parties;  
(3) the retention of possession, benefit or use of the property in question;  
(4) the financial condition of the party sought to be charged both before and after the 
transaction in question;  
(5) the existence or cumulative effect of the pattern or series of transactions or course of 
conduct after the incurring of debt, onset of financial difficulties, or pendency or threat of 
suits by creditors; and  
(6) the general chronology of events and transactions under inquiry.245 
 
The Trustee seems to suggest a static construct where a badge once present is presumed 

to have existed for all relevant times. For example, the Trustee makes much of the Dove Acres 

payments, even though these occurred long before the Debtor had trouble paying creditors. But 

how can you have an intent to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors who are getting paid? And this 

is a problem with all multi-factor tests, of which the badges-of-fraud test is just one example. A 

wooden application of each factor or badge in isolation, without considering how each factor 

plays out and relates to the other factors over the relevant time period, brings the trier of fact no 

closer to an understating of the ultimate issue: here, the Debtor’s intent, as held by Mr. Hoisager.   

This analysis will focus on the last three of the Fifth Circuit’s factors for four reasons. 

First, they encapsulate the other badges of fraud, including the TUFTA badges. Second, they 

offer a more dynamic construct than that offered by the Trustee, one where timing matters. 

Third, they compel an inquiry into all the facts and circumstances. Finally, and most importantly, 

 
244 Tex. Bus. & Com. Code §24.005(b). 
245 Soza v. Hill (In re Soza), 542 F.3d 1060, 1067 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Chastant v. Chastant (In re 

Chastant), 873 F. 2d 89, 91 (5th. Cir. 1989) in turn quoting In re Schmit, 71 B.R. 587, 590 (Bankr. D. Minn. 1987)). 
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they invite the trier of fact to knit together all the badges that apply into a coherent narrative that 

examines how Mr. Hoisager’s motives were likely affected by the changing financial fortunes of 

the Debtor over the course of 2013.  

To that end, post-trial instructions included a request for a timeline,246 which would have 

been responsive to the fourth and sixth of the Fifth Circuit’s elements. The Trustee declined this 

request, possibly because it would undermine his static construct, under which a badge once 

present is present for all times. Mr. Hoisager did include one,247 and it has been helpful. It shows:  

 that the discussions that ultimately led to establishing AEX as a public company 
started in July 2013;248 

 that several leases were assigned by the Debtor to AEX on August 30, 2013;249  
 that the merger agreement between AEX and Lone Oak was signed in October 

2013;250 
 that the transaction in which AEX “recognized” an equity contribution by Mr. 

Hoisager happened in December 2013;251 
 that a re-entry failure involving the SM Prewitt lease—described as 

“disastrous”—happened on December 11, 2013; 252 
 that the valuable Johnson 44 well assignment to AEX was recorded one day 

later;253 and 
 that the merger was completed 12 days after that.254  

 
In short, the latter half of 2013 was eventful for Mr. Hoisager, the Debtor, and AEX. But 

what other indicators of intent are there from this time?  

First, the Debtor made its first six-digit distribution to Mr. Hoisager in July 2013.255  

Next, on top of distributions to Mr. Hoisager, the Debtor made large expenditures, 

 
246 5/19/2022 Trial Tr. 33:16-34:1, ECF No. 205. 
247 Def.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex. A, ECF No. 211. 
248 See also W. Heyn Decl. 2. 
249 See also Pl.’s Ex. 77. 
250 See also W. Heyn Decl. 3. 
251 See also Def.’s Ex. 19, PDF 7; B. Crisp Decl. 13.  
252 See also J. Hoisager Decl. 38. 
253 See also Pl.’s Ex. 77. 
254 See also W. Heyn Decl. 3. 
255 Pl.’s Ex. 60, 2. 
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including substantial cost overruns, on the Wolfbone I and II wells256—wells in which the 

Debtor no longer owned a working interest—leading to the Debtor’s slide into insolvency. This 

ship was clearly sinking in 2013, and no one would know that better than Mr. Hoisager.  

Next, the Debtor transferred almost 5 million dollars to AEX. These transfers were 

included on Exhibit 85, used by Mr. Crisp to exclude revenue payments, which would be due 

under the joint operating agreement, from the claim for cash transfers from the Debtor to 

AEX.257 While the parties spent much time debating the accuracy of four entries on Exhibit 85, 

of far, far more relevance to the timeline analysis is this: by juxtaposing the revenue payments258 

against the joint interest billing receivable owed by AEX to the Debtor,259 we learn that, 

beginning in July 2013 (again), the Debtor made substantial revenue payments to AEX at times 

when the AEX joint interest billings due to the Debtor were substantial, and mostly past due. No 

prudent operator would have failed to offset those revenue payments against the past due joint 

interest billings.  

Finally, there is Mr. Hoisager’s audacious attempt to transition from his role as a sole 

proprietor, engaging in undocumented transactions with Mr. McCabe, and using the Debtor as 

his private checking account, to a role as the chief executive officer of a public company.260  

Taking all these facts together leads to the inescapable conclusion that starting in July 

2013, Mr. Hoisager knew the Debtor was foundering, and he was, at the same time, enticed by 

the prospect of running AEX, a public company. Preferring his new enterprise over the Debtor, 

Mr. Hoisager emptied the Debtor of available cash and valuable properties, and diverted it all to 

 
256 J. Rae Decl. 10. 
257 5/17/22 Trial Tr. 46:1-50:17, ECF No. 204. 
258 Pl.’s Ex. 85. 
259 Pl’s. Ex. 12B, 74, 260, 456. 
260 In re 1701 Commerce, LLC, 511 B.R. 812, 836 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2014) (fraudulent transfer under 

TUFTA) (“This list [of badges] is not exclusive and a court may also consider other suspicious facts suggesting that 
a transfer was made with actual fraudulent intent.”) (citations omitted). 
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himself, AEX, or later, Arabella Operating. And this, at the least, constitutes an intent to delay, 

hinder, or defraud the creditors of the Debtor, and so the cutoff date for cash transfers to Mr. 

Hoisager can be moved back to July 1, 2013. Doing so adds $377,535 to the judgment.261  

F. Because the Cash Transfers Made to Mr. Hoisager were Made for No 
Consideration, those Transfers Cannot be Preferential Transfers 
 
The Trustee alternatively seeks to recover the cash paid by the Debtor to Mr. Hoisager 

within one year of the petition date as preferential transfers. But a preferential transfer must be 

made “for or on account of an antecedent debt,”262 and as previously discussed, those cash 

transfers were made for no consideration.  

G. Under the One Satisfaction Rule, the Trustee’s Fraudulent Transfer Judgment 
Must be Reduced by the Payments Mr. Hoisager Made Back to the Debtor 
 
In the Joint Pre-Trial Order, Mr. Hoisager raises the one satisfaction rule of section 

550(d) and claims that payments received by the Trustee under a settlement entered into with the 

estate of AEX,263 and payments made pre-petition by Mr. Hoisager to the Debtor, should be 

credited against any fraudulent transfer award.264  

More specifically, Mr. Hoisager says the Trustee received $4.8 million from the sale of 

the Samson Tag Along, $2 million from the sale of the Brigham Tag Along, and $1.4 million 

from the sale of Wolfbone I and II working interests.265 But as noted by Judge Hale in In re 

Provident Properties,266 “section 550(d) must be applied on a transfer-by-transfer basis….” Here, 

since the Trustee did not establish a right to recover any of the property transfers, there is nothing 

against which to credit his recoveries from the AEX estate. 

 
261 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. Ex 2, ECF No. 210. 
262 11 U.S.C. § 547(b). 
263 Joint Pre-Trial Order 35, ECF No. 184. 
264 Joint Pre-Trial Order 43-44, ECF No. 184. 
265 Joint Pre-Trial Order 23, ECF No. 184. 
266 Segner v. Ruthven Oil & Gas (In re Provident Royalties, LLC), 581 B.R. 185, 195 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 

2017). 
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But Mr. Hoisager’s payments to the Debtor after July 1, 2013 should reduce his 

fraudulent transfer liability under section 550(d). The Fifth Circuit held strongly in favor of this 

offset in In re DeBerry.267 And while the facts there differed materially, the opinion gives no hint 

that a different set of facts would yield a different result.268 Mr. Hoisager’s uncontroverted 

testimony is that he contributed $67,550 after July 10, 2014, to support the Debtor’s operations, 

and so this will serve as a credit to the fraudulent transfer judgment.269   

H. Mr. Hoisager Breached his Fiduciary Duty to the Debtor 
 
The Debtor was a Texas limited liability company.270 Mr. Hoisager was the sole member 

and manager, and as manager he appointed himself president, secretary, and treasurer.271 Thus, 

he owed a fiduciary duty to the Debtor.272 Texas law allows an LLC to limit this duty to some 

extent,273 and the Debtor’s company agreement does just that, relieving Mr. Hoisager from “any 

action taken (or any failure to act) by [him] in good faith on behalf of the company and 

reasonably believed by [him] to be authorized or within the scope of [his] authority, unless that 

action (or failure to act) constitutes fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful 

misconduct….”274 

 

 
267 Whitlock v. Lowe (In re DeBerry), 945 F. 3d 943, 947 (5th Cir. 2019). 
268 Id. (“In matters of statutory interpretation, the text is always the alpha. Here, it’s also the omega.”).  
269 J. Hoisager Decl. 69. 
270 Def.’s Ex. 2. 
271 Def.’s Ex. 2, PDF 15. 
272 Katz v. Intel Pharma, LLC, 2020 WL 3871493 at *2 (S.D. Tex. July 9, 2020) (finding managing 

member “owed [LLC] fiduciary duties based on agency-law principles”) (citing Johnson v. Brewer & Pritchard, 
P.C., 73 S.W.3d 193, 200 (Tex. 2002)); see also ETRG Invest. v. Hardee (In re Hardee), 2013 WL 1084494 at *9 
(Bankr. E.D. Tex. 2013) (“Though limited liability companies are not corporations in the strictest sense, and though 
Texas law implies, but does not explicitly state, that the fiduciary status of corporate officers and directors and the 
corresponding three broad duties of such corporate officers and directors—the duty of due care, loyalty, and 
obedience—applies to managers and/or members governing the activities of a limited liability company, the 
imposition of those duties upon the management of a limited liability company under Texas law is appropriate and 
warranted.”). 

273 Tex. Bus. Org. Code Ann. §§ 7.001(d)(3), 101.401. 
274 Def.’s Ex 2, PDF 8. 
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Mr. Hoisager argues that he owes no duties to creditors unless the company stops 

operating.275 The cases cited support this notion, but they also affirm that the duty runs to the 

corporation and none suggest that the trustee cannot enforce the duty on behalf of the 

corporation.276 It seems most likely that Texas would ultimately adopt the Delaware view that 

the fiduciary duties are always owed to the corporation, but can be enforced by the residual 

stakeholder.277 Here, in any event, the creditors are not seeking to enforce the fiduciary duty 

owed to the corporation. Instead, a trustee has been appointed and stands in the shoes of the 

Debtor,278 with the ability to sue to enforce the fiduciary duties owed to the corporation and 

recover on behalf of the residual stakeholder.279 And plainly, with the Debtor hopelessly 

insolvent,280 the residual stakeholders are the creditors. 

The duty imposed on Mr. Hoisager includes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty.281 The 

duty of loyalty also includes a duty not to engage in self-dealing.282 Although Mr. Hoisager has 

 
275 Def.’s Post-Trial Br. 107, ECF No. 211. 
276 Floyd v. Hefner, 2006 WL 2844245 at *16-24, *31 (S.D. Tex. 2006) (discussing at some length the 

tension between circuit and district court cases on the issue, and the confusion introduced by Credit Lyonnais; and 
yet allowing the trustee to pursue the breach of duty claims on behalf of the corporation); Valley Ridge Roofing and 
Constr., LLC v. Silver State Holdings, Assignee—7901 Boulevard 26 LLC (In re Silver State Holdings, Assignee—
7901 Boulevard 26 LLC), 2020 WL 7414434 at *31 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2020) (stating the duty always runs to 
corporation but allowing successor to trustee to recover for breach of duty); Tow v. Bulmahn (In re ATP Oil & Gas 
Corp.), 711 Fed. App’x. 216 (5th Cir. 2017) (stating the same as Floyd, but neither the Fifth Circuit nor the District 
Court appears to have had any issue with the trustee asserting the claims on behalf of the corporation, instead 
dismissing the claims on other grounds). 

277 N. Am. Catholic Educ. Programming Found., Inc. v. Gheewalla, 930 A.2d 92, 102-03 (Del. 2007) 
(holding that creditors have no direct claim, but stating that they can assert a derivative claim if the entity is 
insolvent); Torch Liquidating Trust ex rel. Bridge Associates LLC v. Stockstill, 561 F.3d 377, 385-86 (5th Cir. 2009) 
(same); Floyd v Hefner, 2006 WL 2844245 at *24 (reasoning that the trustee must show both a violation of a legal 
obligation and harm to the corporation stemming from that violation). 

278 11 USC § 323 (a), (b) (trustee represents estate and can sue and be sued); 11 USC § 541(a)(1) (estate 
includes legal or equitable interests of the debtor). 

279 11 U.S.C. § 323; Torch, 561 F.3d at 385-87 (explaining how a trustee in bankruptcy has standing to 
bring on behalf of the estate a direct suit for breach of fiduciary duties owed to the corporation). The Trustee’s 
standing here is stronger than was the liquidating trustee’s standing in Torch because the Trustee’s standing exists 
automatically under the Bankruptcy Code, whereas in Torch the liquidating trustee had to satisfy the requirements of 
section 1123).  

280 B. Crisp Decl. 5. 
281 Fagan v. La Gloria Oil & Gas Co., 494 S.W. 2d 624, 628 (Tex. Civ. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1973, 

no writ). 
282 Lowry v. Tarbox, 537 S.W.3d 599, 615 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 2017) (explaining that fiduciaries are 
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raised the defense of the business judgment rule, that rule does not apply to self-dealing283 or 

interested party transactions.284 Instead, the fiduciary has the burden of proving that the 

transaction was fair to the corporation.285 

The actions taken by Mr. Hoisager to drain the Debtor of cash and properties through 

transfers to himself and AEX are the very epitome of self-dealing286 and interested party 

transactions.287 That Mr. Hoisager took these actions with full knowledge of the Debtor’s 

deteriorating financial condition establishes both bad faith and willful misconduct.  

The only real question concerns the measure of damages. According to the Trustee’s 

Post-Trial Brief, Mr. Crisp measured the damages as the unpaid claims against the estate of 

$11.9 million.288 But Mr. Crisp does not “measure damages” in his declaration. And such a 

measure of damages would be speculative—it would require the unlikely finding that but for the 

transfers, all creditors would have been paid in full, and the record supports no such finding.289  

But the corporation was certainly damaged by losing the cash transferred with the actual 

intent to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors. This amount includes not only the amounts of cash 

 
not to benefit themselves at the expense of the corporation). 

283 Lowry v. Tarbox, 537 S.W.3d 599, 616 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 2017).  
284 Mims v. Kennedy Capital Mgmt., Inc. (In re Performance Nutrition, Inc.), 239 B.R. 93, 110 (Bankr. 

N.D. Tex. 1999) (interested party transactions include those where the fiduciary profits personally and those where 
the fiduciary’s corporation transacts with another corporation in which the fiduciary has a significant financial 
interest).  

285 Id. at 110. 
286 Id. at 110-11 (director’s failure to market company’s assets on the open market and subsequent sale to 

second company in which he had a financial interest was a breach of his duties of loyalty and care). 
287 Int’l Bankers Life Ins. Co. v. Holloway, 368 S.W.2d 567, 577 (Tex. 1963) (“A director who diverts 

profits from the corporation in violation of his fiduciary relationship is personally liable even though the profits are 
acquired by an agency controlled by the director.”); Valley Ridge Roofing and Constr., LLC v. Silver State Holdings, 
Assignee—7901 Boulevard 26 LLC (In re Silver State Holdings, Assignee—7901 Boulevard 26 LLC), 2020 WL 
7414434 at *30-31 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2020) (defendant breached fiduciary duty by diverting opportunity from one 
company to another in which the fiduciary had an interest); Krol v. Wilcek (In re H. King & Assocs.), 295 B.R. 246, 
275 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2003) (liquidating a company while transferring business to a new company owned by the 
fiduciary was a breach of fiduciary duty). 

288 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 25, ECF No. 210 (citing Pl.’s Ex. 61 and B. Crisp Decl. 5).  
289 To similar effect is H. King & Assocs., 295 B.R. at 276 (finding that the proper measure of damages for 

breach of fiduciary duties does not necessarily equal the claims filed in the bankruptcy case). 
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transferred to Mr. Hoisager after July 1, 2013, but also the non-revenue cash transferred to AEX 

after July 1, 2013. These amounts are recoverable because, even though the cash transfers to 

AEX cannot be said to be “for or to the benefit of” Mr. Hoisager for purposes of fraudulent 

conveyance law, they fall squarely within the proscription on unfair interested party 

transactions.290 

As noted above, although the parties debated the accounting for revenue v. non-revenue 

payments to AEX, the payments of revenue to AEX after July 1, 2013, are also damages for 

breach of fiduciary duty because those payments should have been retained and set off against 

the outstanding joint interest billings owed by AEX to the Debtor. Non -revenue cash and 

revenues paid to AEX after July 1, 2013, total $5,542,596.291  

Finally, although the Trustee failed in his burden to prove the avoidance of the payments 

to Arabella Operating, Mr. Hoisager failed, in part, to carry his burden to prove the overall 

fairness of all of the cash payments to Arabella Operating. Mr. Hoisager’s testimony that money 

paid to Arabella Operating was revenue owned by others is credible, without contrary evidence, 

but only for payments made in uneven amounts, and not for payments made in round dollar 

 
290 Brickley v. Scattered Corp. (In re H & M Oil & Gas, LLC), 514 B.R. 790, 815 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2014) 

(explaining that ‘“interested’ transactions are subject to a higher level of scrutiny); Brickley for CryptoMetrics, Inc. 
Creditors’ Tr. v. ScanTech Identification Beams Sys., LLC., 566 B.R. 815, 849-50 (W.D. Tex. 2017) (allegation of 
fraudulent transfers by co-CEOs to themselves and others states a claim for breach of fiduciary duty); Randall v. 
Erstmark Capital Corp. (In re Erstmark Capital Corp.), 2002 WL 1792213 at *5 (N.D. Tex. 2002) (fraudulent 
transfers are a breach of fiduciary duty); Valley Ridge Roofing and Constr., LLC v. Silver State Holdings, Assignee—
7901 Boulevard 26 LLC (In re Silver State Holdings, Assignee—7901 Boulevard 26 LLC), 2020 WL 7414434 at 
*26, 30 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2020) (finding that defendant manager breached his duty of loyalty by causing a 
fraudulent transfer between two commonly owned companies); Mims v. Kennedy Capital Mgmt., Inc. (In re 
Performance Nutrition, Inc.), 239 B.R. 93, 110 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1999) (“The duty of loyalty holds officers and 
directors to an ‘extreme measure of candor, unselfishness and good faith,’ particularly where there is an interested 
transaction.”) (quoting Int’l Bankers Life Ins. Co. v. Holloway, 368 S.W.2d 567, 577 (Tex. 1963)); Krol v. Wilcek 
(In re H. King & Assocs.), 295 B.R. 246, 274-75 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2003) (fiduciaries’ steering of commercial 
opportunities from Debtor to new corporation, in which they were financially interested, was a breach of their 
fiduciary duties).  

291 Pl.’s Ex. 85. The actual total is $5,883,150, but based on rebuttal testimony by Mr. Hoisager, 5/19/22 
Trial Tr. 11:3-25:25, ECF No. 205, and Mr. Crisp, Id. at 26:12-30:7, the Court believes Ex. 85 overstates the correct 
numbers by $340,554, consisting of a $107,607 transfer that reversed a mistaken payment, and a $232,947 transfer 
that was later voided.  
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amounts.292  

And so, the Trustee can recover an addition $153,500 from Mr. Hoisager for breaching 

his fiduciary duties to the Debtor. 

I. The Trustee’s Request for Exemplary Damages Must be Denied as the Trustee Did 
Not Prove Common Law Fraud by Clear and Convincing Evidence 
 
The Trustee also asks for recovery of exemplary damages under Section 41.003 of the 

Texas Civil Practice & Remedies Code.293 That section permits exemplary damages where the 

claimant can prove by clear and convincing evidence that the harm arose from fraud, malice, or 

gross negligence.294 Here, the Trustee seeks to prove that the harm arose from fraud.295 If fraud is 

proven under section 41.003, section 41.008 permits recovery of up to two times economic 

damages, with the amount left to the fact finder’s discretion.296 The case cited by the Trustee 

discusses punitive damages for breach of fiduciary duty under Illinois law and is thus inapposite.  

The problem here is that the Trustee neither pleaded nor proved fraud.  

To state a claim for common law fraud in Texas, Plaintiffs must prove that: (1) Defendants 
made a material representation that was false; (2) Defendants knew that the representation 
was false or made it recklessly as a positive assertion without any knowledge of its truth; (3) 
Defendants intended to induce Plaintiffs to act upon the representation; and (4) Plaintiffs 
actually and justifiably relied upon the representation and thereby suffered injury. In re 
ACM–Texas, Inc., 430 B.R. 371, 410 (Bankr. W.D. Tex. 2010) (citing Ernst, 51 S.W.3d at 
577); see also Zorrilla v. Aypco Constr. II, LLC, 469 S.W.3d 143, 153 (Tex. 2015) (“A 
common-law fraud claim requires ‘a material misrepresentation, which was false, and which 
was either known to be false when made or was asserted without knowledge of its truth, 
which was intended to be acted upon, which was relied upon, and which caused injury.”) 
(citations omitted).297 
 

 
292 Of the $882,483 transferred to Arabella Operating after December 31, 2014, $153,500 were payments 

made in round dollars and $728,983 were payments made in uneven amounts. Pl.’s Ex. 79. See also B. Crisp Decl. 
4, 15.  

293 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 26, ECF No. 210. 
294 Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 41.003. 
295 Pl.’s Post-Trial Br. 26, ECF No. 210 (citing Krol v. Wilcek (In re H. King & Assocs.), 295 B.R. 246, 

276-77 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2003)). 
296 Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 41.008. 
297 Patek v. Alfaro (In re Primera Energy, LLC), 579 B.R. 75, 144 (Bankr. W.D. Tex. 2017), aff'd sub nom. 

Alfaro v. Reiley, 2019 WL 4765385 (W.D. Tex. 2019). 
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What the trustee has proven is “actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud” creditors, and 

has done so by a preponderance of the evidence with reference to badges of fraud. This in no 

way equates to satisfying the elements of common law fraud by clear and convincing evidence, 

and so the request for exemplary damages is denied.298 

J. The Trustee’s Request for Attorney’s Fees Awaits More Proof and Briefing 
 
The Trustee preserved a request for attorney’s fees incurred under TUFTA in the Joint 

Pre-trial order.299 Under section 24.013 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, “the court 

may award costs and reasonable attorney’s fees as are equitable and just.”300 The Fifth Circuit 

has recently discussed awarding fees and costs in a TUFTA cases that involved other issues: 

Under Texas Business and Commerce Code § 24.013, courts presiding over TUFTA 
cases are empowered to “award costs and reasonable attorney’s fees as are equitable and 
just.” On appeal, Hughes concedes that if Pearcy and Thomas prevail on their TUFTA 
claims, they are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs under § 24.013. However, Hughes 
maintains that Pearcy and Thomas failed properly to segregate recoverable fees, 
stemming from their attorneys’ work on their TUFTA claims, from unrecoverable fees, 
incurred as a result of their other claims.  
 
Under Texas law, “if any attorney’s fees relate solely to a claim for which such fees are 
unrecoverable, a claimant must segregate recoverable from unrecoverable fees.” Tony 
Gullo Motors I, L.P. v. Chapa, 212 S.W.3d 299, 313 (Tex. 2006). However, segregation 
is not necessary “when the causes of action involved in the suit are dependent upon the 
same set of facts or circumstances and thus are ‘[intertwined] to the point of being 
inseparable.’” Id. at 311 (quoting Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling, 822 S.W.2d 1, 11–
12 (Tex. 1991)). This exception is met only where the relevant “legal services advance 
both recoverable and unrecoverable claims.” A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. v. Beyer, 235 
S.W.3d 704, 710 (Tex. 2007).301 

 

 
298 Although Thomas v. Hughes, 27 F.4th 995, 1011 (5th Cir. 2022) could be read to the contrary, there the 

clear and convincing standard was met, unlike here. Also, in Husky Int’l Elect., Inc. v Ritz, 578 U.S. 356, 361-62 
(2016) the Supreme Court determined that “actual fraud” as used in 11 U.S.C. § 523 can include fraudulent 
conveyance schemes that do not require a false representation. But the fraud in section 523 is not the same as Texas 
common law fraud and so Husky is inapposite.  

299 Joint Pre-Trial Order 10, ECF No. 184. 
300 Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 24.013. 
301 Thomas v. Hughes, 27 F.4th at 1019-20. 
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Here, the Trustee has unsuccessfully pursued avoidance of the property transfers and 

transfers to AEX and Arabella Operating, but successfully pursued avoidance of the cash 

transfers to Mr. Hoisager as constructive and actual intent fraudulent conveyances. The Trustee 

has also successfully pursued a breach of fiduciary duty claim that was dependent on the same 

facts that were proven to support the avoidance of the cash transfers as actual intent fraudulent 

conveyances.  

To recover fees or costs, then, the Trustee generally must separate time spent on the (1) 

avoidance of the property transfers, (2) avoidance of transfers to AEX and Arabella, and (3) any 

transfers before July 1, 2013, from time spent on (4) avoidance of cash transfers, and (5) breach 

of fiduciary duty claims. It seems possible that time spent on categories (4) and (5) may in part 

be inseparable from time spent on categories (1) and (2). How this happens as a practical matter 

will depend on how detailed the time records of the Trustee and his counsel have been. And 

neither side has had an adequate opportunity to brief this somewhat complicated issue, the nature 

of the judgment is just now becoming known, and the Trustee has not yet proposed a division of 

time. And so, the Court will enter an order with this memorandum opinion containing a schedule 

for submitting time records, responses to the time records, and a briefing schedule. Entry of the 

final judgment will await the outcome of this dispute.  
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III. CONCLUSION 

Thus, the Trustee shall recover these amounts on his fraudulent transfer and breach of 

fiduciary duty claims.  

 Fraudulent Transfer Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Properties to AEX -0- -0- 
Cash to AEX -0- $5,542,596 
Cash to Arabella Operating -0- $153,500 
Cash to Mr. Hoisager after 
12/31/13 

$2,803,834 $2,803,834 

Cash to Mr. Hoisager from 
7/1/13 to 12/31/13 

$377,535 $377,535 

Credit <$67,550> -0- 
Attorney’s Fees TBD -0- 
Judgment  $8,887,465 

 
Obviously, the awards are duplicative to the extent of the cash paid to Mr. Hoisager, and the 

Trustee cannot recover those amounts twice.  

A briefing schedule will be entered for the attorney’s fees issue. After the Court 

determines the attorney fee issue, it will enter a final judgment. All other relief requested will be 

denied. 

 


